1980

# Ronald D. Ellis v. Social Services Department of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints; Lds Social Services; Et al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

Plaintiff-appellant Ronald D. Ellis (hereinafter "Mr. Ellis") commenced this habeas corpus action in the District Court in and for Salt Lake County on January 3, 1980, seeking to obtain custody of his infant son born December 15, 1979, to defendant-respondent Christine Bruner (hereinafter "Miss Bruner"), who relinquished the child to defendant-respondent LDS Social Services (hereinafter "LDS Social Services) immediately following its birth.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On January 21, 1980, the Honorable Bryant H. Croft dismissed plaintiff-appellant's action with prejudice upon the motion of LDS Social Services, thereby purportedly



forever precluding Mr. Ellis from gaining custody of his son. This motion was presumably based upon Rule 12(b)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and the dismissal upon the District Court's belief that Mr. Ellis had not complied with the notice requirements of Section 78-30-4(3), Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended).

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Mr. Ellis respectfully requests that this Court reverse the District Court's dismissal of this action and remand the matter with instructions to determine Mr. Ellis's fitness to have custody of his son and to award custody to Mr. Ellis unless he is found unfit.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The District Court received no evidence before dismissing plaintiff-appellant's verified Complaint; therefore, there is no evidentiary Record presently before this Court and the allegations of the verified Complaint must be considered true.

Mr. Ellis and Miss Bruner are both bona fide residents and domiciliaries of California. Neither has lived within Utah at any time material to this action. Mr. Ellis is 23 years of age and gainfully employed as a department manager by a retail grocery store in San Marino, California.

Miss Bruner and Mr. Ellis were to be married on July 16, 1979; however, approximately two weeks before the marriage was to take place, Miss Bruner advised Mr. Ellis that, because of religious differences existing between them, she had decided to terminate their engagement. At this time, both parties were aware that Miss Bruner was pregnant. Miss Bruner has since consistently refused Mr. Ellis's proposals of marriage.

Immediately prior to her delivery, Miss Bruner left California and came to Utah without the knowledge or consent of Mr. Ellis. On December 15, 1979, Miss Bruner gave birth to Mr. Ellis's son in the Utah Valley Hospital, Utah County, Utah. On December 19, 1979, the fourth day following her delivery, Miss Bruner executed a document entitled "Affidavit and Release" by which she purportedly relinquished her infant to LDS Social Services and abandoned all further interest in the child.

Through a bishop of the L.D.S. Church in California, Mr. Ellis learned of Miss Bruner's whereabouts and the birth of his son. During the week of his son's birth, Mr. Ellis and his California attorney contacted LDS Social Services and informed them both of his paternity and of his desire to support and have custody of his son. LDS Social Services refused to relinquish custody of the infant to Mr. Ellis or

even to give him any information concerning the child's whereabouts and also failed to advise him of any steps which would have to be undertaken to protect his parental rights.

On January 2, 1980, Mr. Ellis filed with the Bureau of Vital Statistics an acknowledgement of his paternity of the child and a statement of his willingness and intent to support his son to the best of his ability.

Thereafter, Mr. Ellis filed the present action just 12 working days after the birth of his son. The hearing on the Writ of Habeas Corpus was scheduled for January 22, 1980; however, defendants-respondents noticed their motion to dismiss for hearing before the Law and Motion Division on January 21, 1980. Following this hearing, at which no evidence was received, the District Court dismissed this action with prejudice. It is from this ruling that Mr. Ellis appeals to this Court.

#### ARGUMENT

It was the contention of defendants-respondents in their oral argument to the District Court that Mr. Ellis's action was barred by his failure to plead timely compliance with the provisions of Section 78-30-4(3), Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended). That section provides that any unwed

father who fails to file the required notice of paternity shall be forever barred from bringing any action to establish his paternity of, to gain custody of, or to adopt his child. The notice must be filed with the Bureau of Vital Statistics within the time period prescribed by subsection (b), which provides, in pertinent part, that:

The notice may be registered prior to the birth of the child but must be registered prior to the date the illegitimate child is relinquished or placed with an agency licensed to provide adoption services or prior to the filing of a petition by a person with whom the mother has placed the child for adoption. . . .

§78-30-4(3)(b), Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended). In their arguments to the District Court, defendants-respondents placed complete reliance upon the fact that Miss Bruner signed a document entitled "Affidavit and Release" on December 19, 1979, whereas Mr. Ellis did not file his notice of paternity until January 2, 1980. The issues raised by this appeal, therefore, include both the construction to be placed upon Section 78-30-4(3) (Points II and III, infra) and the constitutional validity of the section (Point I, infra).

I. THE DISMISSAL OF THIS ACTION DENIES MR. ELLIS THE DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW GUARANTEED

TO HIM BY THE UTAH AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

Section 7 of Article I of the Utah Constitution, in language identical with that of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, mandates that "no person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law." Accordingly, if Mr. Ellis, although unwed, has an interest in his son which rises to the level of "liberty or property", then that interest may not be terminated or infringed except through such means as satisfy the so-called "due process" and "equal protection" requirements of both the Utah Constitution and the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, which is made applicable to state action by the Fourteenth Amendment.

A. The Interest of an Unwed Father in His Child is Constitutionally Protected.

This Court has held that in determining the scope of the interests to be protected and degree of protection to be afforded by the Utah Constitution, the constitutional decisions of the United States Supreme Court are "highly persuasive". For example, in Untermeyer v. State Tax Commission, 102 Utah 214, 129 P.2d 881 (1942), this Court observed:

The due process clause of the state constitution is substantially the same as the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Federal Constitution.

Decisions of the Supreme Court of the United States on the due process clauses of the Federal Constitution are "highly persuasive" as to the application of that clause to our state constitution.

129 P.2d at 885. Accordingly, in order to determine in the present case whether, although unwed, Mr. Ellis has an interest in his son which is to be afforded constitutional protection, it is appropriate to look to the opinions of the United States Supreme Court.

In Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 31 L.Ed.2d 551, 92 S. Ct. 1208 (1972), the United States Supreme Court firmly held that an unwed father does have a constitutionally protected interest in his children. At issue in that case was a state law which, in effect, provided that children of unwed fathers became wards of the state upon the death of the natural mother. The Court first ruled that the interest of a father in his children was sufficiently important to be constitutionally protected, holding:

The private interest here, that of a man in the children he has sired and raised, undeniably warrants deference and, absent a powerful countervailing interest, protection. It is plain that the interest of a parent in the companionship, care, custody, and management of his or her children "come(s) to this Court with a momentum for respect lacking when appeal is made to liberties which derive merely from shifting



economic arrangements."

The rights to conceive and raise one's  
children have been deemed "essential"  
. . . and "(r)ights far more  
precious . . . than property rights"  
. . . .

405 U.S. at 651, 31 L.Ed.2d at 558 (citations omitted,  
emphasis added). The United States Supreme Court also made  
clear that a man's interest in his children was no less  
constitutionally protected merely because he had not been  
formally married to their mother:

[T]he law [has not] refused to  
recognize those family relationships  
unlegitimized by a marriage ceremony.  
The Court has declared unconstitutional  
the state statute denying natural, but  
illegitimate, children a wrongful-death  
action for the death of their mother,  
emphasizing that such children cannot  
be denied the right of other children  
because familial bonds in such cases  
were often as warm, enduring, and  
important as those arising within a  
more formally organized family unit.  
. . . "To say that the test of equal  
protection should be that of 'legal'  
rather than biological relationship  
is to avoid the issue. . . ."

405 U.S. at 651-52, 31 L.Ed. 2d at 559 (citations omitted).

The Court then unequivocally stated its holding that:

Stanley's interest in retaining  
custody of his children is cogniz-  
able and substantial.

405 U.S. 652, 31 L.Ed.2d at 559. Thus, in addition to what-  
ever statutory rights may be accorded to Mr. Ellis under

Utah law, he has a constitutionally protected interest in his son.

The holding of the United States Supreme Court in Stanley that an unwed father has a constitutionally protected interest in his children remains firmly intact. In Quilloin v. Walcott, 434 U.S. 246, 54 L.Ed.2d 511, 98 S.Ct. 549 (1978), the United States Supreme Court emphasized that the case was distinguishable from Stanley since the natural father was seeking, some 11 years after the birth of the child, merely to assert a "veto" to an adoption by the child's step-father. The Court pointedly observed that, in Quilloin, the natural father did

not challenge the sufficiency of the notice he received with respect to the adoption proceeding . . . nor [could] he claim that he was deprived of a right to a hearing on his individualized interests in his child, prior to entry of the order of adoption. Although the trial court's ultimate conclusion was that the appellant lacked standing to object to the adoption, this conclusion was reached only after appellant had been afforded a full hearing on his legitimation petition, at which he was given the opportunity to offer evidence on any matter he thought relevant, including his fitness as a parent.

434 U.S. at 253, 54 L.Ed.2d at 518-19 (footnote omitted).

Moreover, the Court expressly stated its continued recog-



dition of the constitutionally protected relationship between all parents and their children and again emphasized that Quilloin was

not a case in which the unwed father at any time had, or sought, actual or legal custody of his child.

434 U.S. at 255, 54 L.Ed.2d at 520.

The continued applicability of Stanley has been consistently emphasized in many subsequent state court decisions, including In re Adoption of Lathrop, 575 P.2d 894 (Ct. App. Kan. 1978). In that case, the court held:

It is clear that Quilloin does not abrogate the basic premise of the Stanley case: that is, that a putative father does in fact have parental rights in his child. The holding of the Quilloin case is actually quite narrow: the constitutional rights of an unwed father who merely seeks to veto the adoption of his child, without seeking custody of the child, are adequately protected by something less than a fitness hearing, and under the facts of that case his rights were protected by a "best interest of the child" hearing.

575 P.2d at 898. See also, Willmott v. Decker, 541 P.2d 13 (Hawaii 1975); People ex rel. Slawek v. Covenant Children's Home, 52 Ill.2d 20, 284 N.E.2d 291 (1972); State ex rel. Lewis v. Lutheran Social Services, 59 Wis.2d 1, 207 N.W.2d 826 (1973).

Accordingly, the holding of the United States Supreme Court in Stanley that an unwed father has a constitutionally protected interest in his child continues to be recognized as the final pronouncement of the United States Supreme Court on this subject.

B. Section 78-30-4 Unconstitutionally Denies Mr. Ellis Due Process of Law.

Having determined that Mr. Ellis does in fact have a constitutionally protected interest in his son, it is next necessary to determine the minimum degree of protection which must be afforded to that interest. In Riggins v. District Court of Salt Lake County, 89 Utah 183, 51 P.2d 645 (1935), this Court concisely summarized the essential safeguards to be afforded constitutionally protected interests:

Due process of law requires that notice be given to the persons whose rights are to be affected. It "hears before it condemns, proceeds upon inquiry, and renders judgment only after trial."

51 P.2d at 660. Notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard are, therefore, the essential elements of due process.

A more detailed statement of this concept was set forth in Christiansen v. Harris, 109 Utah 1, 163 P.2d 314 (1945). It was notice accompanied by a meaningful opportunity to be heard that were again held to be the primary requirement:

Many attempts have been made to further define "due process" but they all resolve into the thought that a party shall have his day in court--that is each party shall have the right to a hearing before a competent court, with the privilege of being heard and introducing evidence to establish his cause or his defense, after which comes judgment upon the record thus made. . . . [All of the] methods and means provided for the protection and enforcement of human rights have the same basic requirements--that no party can be affected by such action, until his legal rights have been the subject of an inquiry by a person or body authorized by law to determine such rights, of which inquiry the party has due notice, and at which he had an opportunity to be heard and to give evidence as to his rights or defenses.

163 P.2d at 316-17.

The constitutional requirement of a meaningful hearing upon notice has frequently been reaffirmed by the United States Supreme Court. For example, in United States Department of Agriculture v. Murry, 413 U.S. 508, 37 L.Ed.2d 767, 93 S. Ct. 2832 (1973), the Court held constitutionally invalid a provision of the food stamp program that denied participation to any household having a member 18 years of age or older if that person was claimed as a dependant by any taxpayer. The basis of the decision was that the statutory provision created a presumption (which was not

universally true) that such households were not in need of the assistance afforded by the food stamp program. The Court rejected the contention that such a presumption was justified since it rendered the administration of the overall program more efficient:

[W]here the private interests affected are very important and the governmental interest can be promoted without much difficulty by a well-designed hearing procedure, the Due Process Clause requires the Government to act on an individualized basis, with general propositions serving only as rebuttable presumptions or other burden-shifting devices.

413 U.S. at 518, 37 L.Ed.2d at 775 (Marshall, J., concurring).

In this case, defendants-respondents place total reliance upon the claimed failure of Mr. Ellis to file his notice of paternity with the Bureau of Vital Statistics within the time period prescribed by Section 78-30-4(3)(b), Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended). Assuming, arguendo, that Mr. Ellis did not timely file the notice required by this section (Contra, Points II and III, infra) and that such a requirement is valid (Contra, Point I(C), infra), subsection (c) then operates to presume, from such failure, an abandonment of the child:

Any father of [an illegitimate]  
child who fails to file and register

his notice of claim to paternity and his agreement to support the child shall be barred from thereafter bringing or maintaining any action to establish his paternity of the child. Such failure shall further constitute an abandonment of said child and a waiver and surrender of any right to notice of or to a hearing in any judicial proceeding for the adoption of said child, and the consent of such father to the adoption of such child shall not be required.

§78-30-4(3)(c), Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended). Thus the statute, as defendants-respondents contend it should be applied to Mr. Ellis, presumes his abandonment of his son from the mere fact that he is an unwed father and did not file his notice of paternity prior to the relinquishment of the child by its mother to LDS Social Services.

This presumption of an abandonment of the child is directly analogous to the presumption held to be constitutionally impermissible in Stanley. In that case, as noted above, the Illinois statute at issue provided that, upon the death of the natural mother, illegitimate children were deemed wards of the state, thereby creating a presumption that all unwed fathers were unfit as parents. The United States Supreme Court noted that the state

insists on presuming rather than proving Stanley's unfitness solely because it is more convenient to presume than to prove. Under the

Due Process Clause that advantage is insufficient to justify refusing a father a hearing when the issue at stake is the dismemberment of his family.

The State of Illinois assumes custody of the children of married parents, divorced parents, and unmarried mothers only after a hearing and proof of neglect. The children of unmarried fathers, however, are declared dependent children without a hearing on parental fitness and without proof of neglect.

405 U.S. at 658, 31 L.Ed.2d at 562. The court also considered, and summarily rejected, the state's contention that since most unwed fathers probably were unfit, the economy and efficiency achieved through the statute justified any infringement upon the interests of unwed fathers in their children:

Procedure by presumption is always cheaper and easier than individualized determination. But when, as here, the procedure forecloses the determinative issues of competence and care, when it explicitly disdains present realities in deference to past formalities, it needlessly risks running roughshod over the important interests of both parent and child. It therefore cannot stand.

405 U.S. at 656-57, 31 L.Ed.2d at 562. The Court concluded that all parents are "constitutionally entitled to a hearing



on their fitness before their children are removed from their custody." 405 U.S. at 658, 31 L.Ed.2d at 563.

In Stanley, the statute presumed that unwed fathers were unfit to care for their children. In this case, the statute presumes that all unwed fathers who do not file a notice of paternity within the extremely narrow time limits imposed by the statute have abandoned their children. Just as the presumption in Stanley that all unwed fathers were unfit was not true in the case of Mr. Stanley, the presumption created by this statute that all unwed fathers not filing a notice of paternity within the strict time periods imposed have abandoned their children is not true in the case of Mr. Ellis. Accordingly, this statute is, like the statute stricken by the United States Supreme Court in Stanley, constitutionally invalid as applied to Mr. Ellis.

Likewise, in In re Adoption of Lathrop, supra, the court, after considering the pronouncements of the United States Supreme Court in Stanley and Quilloin, held:

[D]ue process requires that a putative father who appears and asserts his desire to care for his child has rights paramount to those of non-parents, unless he is found to be an unfit father in a fitness hearing. . . .

. . . .

In view of the fact that the father

of an illegitimate child does have parental rights, we hold today . . . that due process and equal protection require that he be given notice of the pending adoption of his child. Actual notice should of course be given whenever possible; and when the father's identity and whereabouts are unknown and unascertainable by due diligence, constructive notice must be given in a form reasonably calculated to actually inform him of the adoption, while at the same time duly protecting the privacy rights of the mother.

. . . .

[O]ur holding today is not a bar to further legislative treatment of the problem so long as it recognizes the father's right to notice and an opportunity to be heard, and makes distinctions rationally related to the objectives to be achieved.

575 P.2d at 898-99 (emphasis added). Thus, the court held that in order to provide the minimum due process protection required in light of Stanley, an unwed father must be given notice and a meaningful opportunity to present his case; any statutory scheme which, like a bolt of lightning, obliterates constitutional rights cannot be tolerated.

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