1980

Ronald D. Ellis v. Social Services Department of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints; Lds Social Services; Et al. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

The Appellant in the District Court failed to plead or demonstrate timely compliance with Title 78-30-4(3) Utah Code Annotated 1953 as amended and particularly (b) thereof which provides

"The notice (of claim of paternity) may be registered prior to the birth of the child but must be registered prior to the date the illegitimate child is relinquished or placed with an agency licensed to provide adoption services or prior to the filing of a petition by a person with whom the mother has placed the child for adoption. The notice shall be signed by the registrant and shall include his name and address, the name and last known address of the mother, and either the birth date of the child or the probable month and

year of the expected birth of the child. The Bureau of Vital Statistics shall maintain a confidential registry for this purpose."

The Affidavit and Release to the adoption agency was executed by the natural mother December 19, 1979, and Mr. Ellis failed to file his claim of paternity until January 2, 1980.

I. THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT HAS NOT BEEN DENIED DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW GUARANTEED TO HIM UNDER THE UTAH AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

Respondents do not dispute the contention made in Appellant's brief that the putative father has an interest in retaining custody of his children which is "cognizable and substantial" under the holding of Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 92 S. Ct. 1208, 31 L. Ed. 2d 551 (1972). That case involved the custody of Peter Stanley's two minor illegitimate children after the death of their mother. Despite the fact that Stanley had lived intermittently with his children and their mother for eighteen (18) years and had supported them during that time, he was not considered a "parent" under Illinois law. The relevant statute defined "parent" as the mother or father of a legitimate child but only the mother of an illegitimate child. "Parents" were entitled to a hearing on the question of fitness before losing custody of their children, but because he had never married the mother, Stanley did not qualify for such a hearing. Under Illinois' practice, the only relevant question was whether he was the father of legitimate children. The answer was clearly no, and so the Illinois Supreme Court ruled that he was not

entitled to a hearing in which to establish his fitness. His children were adjudged wards of the court.

Stanley appealed to the United States Supreme Court which reversed the State Court decision ruling that Illinois' "method of presumption" would not be allowed to stand "in the light of the fact that Illinois allows married fathers--whether divorced, widowed or separated--and mothers--even if unwed-- the benefit of the presumption that they are fit to raise their children." Clearly, the Stanley decision holds that a man who has lived with and supported his illegitimate children is entitled to a hearing on the question of his fitness before he can be denied custody. Justice White refers to Stanley's interest as "that of a man in the children he has sired and raised", 405 U.S. at 651 (emphasis added). Shortly after the Stanley decision, the Supreme Court indicated that its ruling was not limited to cases in which the State intervened to deprive a putative father of custody. A second Illinois case, Vanderlaan v. Vanderlaan, 9 Ill. App. 3d 260, 292 N.E. 2d 145, vacated 405 U.S. 1051 (1972) was remanded involving a custody dispute between parents of two illegitimate children. In addition, the court applied its ruling in Stanley to adoption cases in Lewis v. Lutheran Social Services, 47 Wis. 2d 420, 178 N.W. 2d 56, vacated sub. nom. Rothstein v. Lutheran Social Services, 405 U.S. 1051 (1972). That case involved a Wisconsin father who sought to overturn the adoption of his child after it had been granted on the sole consent of the unwed mother. The Court directed reconsideration of the case "in light of

Stanley . . . and with due consideration for the completion of the adoption proceedings and the fact that the child has apparently lived with the adoptive family for the intervening period of time".

In the Lewis case the unwed father, seeking custody, filed for a declaration of his parental rights and duties. The initial court action took place in December, 1968, five months after the baby's birth and four months after the mother had relinquished the child for adoption. The father challenged the Wisconsin statute that required only the mother's consent to adoption without notice to the father. The father lost but two years later the United States Supreme Court remanded. The Wisconsin court then issued a new post-Stanley decision, (Lewis v. Lutheran Social Services of Wisconsin, 59 Wis. 2d 1, 207 N.W. 2d 826 [1973]) in which it held as a matter of law that both unwed parents were entitled to notice of the proposed adoption and both were required to consent, unless their parental rights had been legally terminated. The case was sent back to the trial court for factual findings regarding the parents' consents and rights. Finally in April, 1975, three years after Stanley and nearly seven years after the child's birth, the fourth and apparently final decision was rendered, Lewis v. Lutheran Social Services of Wisconsin, 68 Wis. 2d 36, 227 N.W. 2d 643 (1975). The Wisconsin trial court concluded and the Supreme Court affirmed that the father had forfeited his rights by abandoning the child before it was born (emphasis added).

The statute which Illinois enacted following Stanley has been criticized as "an overreaction to Stanley . . . entirely understandable in view of the reaction of the United States Supreme Court to the legal status of the unwed father in Illinois", see Barron, "Notice to the Unwed Father and Termination of Rights: Implementing Stanley v. Illinois," 9 Fam. L. Q. 527. The reaction, or overreaction, took the form of, first, including all unwed fathers in the statutory definition of "parent" Ill. Ann. Stat. Ch. 4, Sec. 9.1-1E (Smith-Hurd, 1975) and second, requiring notice of a proposed adoption and either consent or termination of rights by all such fathers, Ill. Ann. Stat. Ch. 4, Sec. 9.1-8(a), 9.1012(a) (Smith-Hurd, 1975). These statutes have been criticized as creating unmanageable practical difficulties in that the state assumes the burden of locating the putative father. In seeking to make its adoptions invulnerable to attack on due process grounds it requires that notice be given to all fathers, known and unknown, concerned and indifferent (emphasis added).

Some states have attempted to comply with Stanley's guidelines by shifting the initial burdens of identification and location onto the father or mother. For instance, Colorado requires notice only to fathers who have supported the child or acknowledged paternity in writing, or whose name appears on the birth certificate, Colo. Rev. Stat. Title 19, Sec. 1-103(21) (1973).

The cases thus far noted, Stanley, Vanderlaan, and Lewis, all involved fathers who had initiated legal proceedings. The difficulties of notice to those fathers who do not come forward were dealt with in Stanley only in a footnote in which the court noted, "if unwed fathers in the main do not care about the disposition of their children, they will not appear to demand hearings", 405 U.S. at 657 n. 11. It could be argued, therefore, that under Stanley the father has the initial burden of appearing so that he may be kept informed. The difficulty is the problem of fathers who are unaware either of their paternity, actual or impending, or of the adoption hearing. States that do not actively reach out to notify such fathers have decided that the biological link alone, clearly much weaker than the on-going relationship with his children of the father in Stanley, does not create such an "essential" interest that state protection is guaranteed, particularly where other interests such as speedy placement of a child in a permanent home may be affected.

Wisconsin's revised statute which went into effect June, 1974, defined "parent" as "a person adjudged in a court proceeding to be a natural father", (Wis. Stat. Ann. Sec. 48.02 (11), W. Supp. 1976). Wisconsin allows "any person(s) claiming to be the father" who has not acquired legal status as a "parent" to file a declaration of his interest in his child at any time prior to termination of his rights. The declaration is filed with the Department of Health and Social Services, and must contain the mother's name and address, and the date or expected

date of the child's birth, as well as a statement that the claimant has "reason to believe that he may be the father of the child". The Department sends a copy of the declaration to the mother who may file a response. The mother's failure to respond is not, however, an admission of the statements in the declaration and the mere filing does not extend parental rights to the claimant. The filing entitles the putative father only to notice and an opportunity to appear in court proceedings affecting the child.

Notice is also required in Wisconsin to a putative father who has not filed a declaration but who has been adjudged the father in a court proceeding or one "who may be the natural father . . . and is living in a familial relationship with the child", Wis. Stat. Ann. Sec. 48.195 (West. Supp. 1976). Finally, the right to notice of a proceeding to terminate parental rights is given to a person "alleged to the court to be the natural father", Wis. Stat. Ann. Sec. 48.42(3) (West. Supp. 1976). To this end, the court "shall make inquiry of the mother as to the identity of the natural father", *ibid*, Sec. 48.42(3). Wisconsin thus limits its notice to fathers who have been identified formally or informally, or who have come forward in some way.

Utah's statute most closely resembles that of Michigan which provided: "Release for purposes of adoption given only by a mother of a child born out of wedlock is sufficient and rights of any putative father shall not be recognized thereafter in any court unless the person claiming to be the father of the child has filed with the probate court prior to the birth of the child,

a notice of intent to claim paternity" Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 710.31 et seq. (Supp. 1972) which has since been repealed and a much more complex scheme inaugurated, Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. Sec 710.31 et. seq. (Supp. 1976). The present Michigan statute makes no provision for any but personal service, it contains specific guidelines and limitations on the rights of the recognized natural father to obtain custody and it emphasizes early procedures encouraging the father to claim or disclaim interest before the child's birth. Michigan allows the father to take the initiative by providing that "a person claiming under oath to be the father of the child" may file a notice of intent to claim paternity before the child's birth. Such filing entitles the presumed father to receive notice of the hearing at which parental rights are to be determined or terminated. The unwed mother may also initiate notice and is encouraged to do so. The notice of intent to release her consent is to be served on the named putative father personally by any officer or person authorized to serve process of the court and advises the putative father of his right to file a notice of intent to claim paternity and informs him that failure to so file before the birth or expected confinement whichever is later will constitute a waiver of further notice, a denial of interest, and a termination of all rights to the child. Following the birth of the child, the court holds a hearing as soon as practical to determine the father's identity and to determine his rights. Notice of the hearing must be given to 1) those who filed an intent to claim paternity, 2) those who were not served with the Notice of Intent to Release or

Consent at least thirty days before the anticipated birth and, 3) those who were not served at all but who the court has reason to believe may be the father of the child. Notice to an unknown father is not required at all. If a known father was properly served with a Notice of Intent to Release or Consent or received (or waived) notice of the hearing, the court may terminate his rights if he has 1) failed to file an intent to claim paternity within the specified time, 2) disclaimed paternity, or 3) failed to appear at the hearing. If the formally adjudged father is present at the hearing, has not lost or waived his rights and seeks custody, the statutes set out a procedure attempting to discriminate between fathers who have not established a relationship with the child and those who have. In the first category is the man who has "not established any custodial relationship" with the child, or who has not supported the pregnant mother and/or child. In such a situation the court must investigate the father's ability to care for the child and will award custody only if it is found to be in the child's "best interest". In the second category are fathers who have established a custodial relationship or who have supported the mother or child for at least ninety (90) days before receiving notice of the hearing. The rights of these fathers are not subject to the "best interests" rule, but may be terminated only on traditional grounds of parental unfitness, abandonment, etc. Michigan law originally required notice only to fathers who have filed a Notice of Intent in Probate Court, or were living with the mother as husband and wife, while under present law, a father

who has taken informal steps to make known his paternity such as having his name entered on the birth certificate, informally acknowledging the child, taking insurance for the child, etc., is given notice and the right to appear and establish his parental rights. The Michigan statute as well as that of Utah attempts to avoid the practical difficulties presented when the identity of the father is unknown. Both schemes involve a paternal registration system. In effect, the statutes reverse the notice burden and although a registered father will receive notice of a pending proceeding, he bears the initial responsibility of officially asserting his intentions.

Such registration laws aim to accomplish several objectives. First, they obviate the need for time consuming efforts to locate the father after the birth of the child. Both speed and preservation of the mother's anonymity are thereby served. Second, they seek to thwart the mother's efforts to defeat a father's interest by withholding his name from the adoption agency. Registration assures the father of notice. Third, by imposing a duty of action on the father, the statute operates to sever the interests of those who fail even to make themselves aware of the mother's pregnancy.

The impending birth of an illegitimate child carries the potential for warning the putative father of the possibility of forthcoming proceedings which will affect his rights. As the child's procreator, the putative father bears responsibility for his offspring's well-being. It should be clear to him that this responsibility must be assumed, and that his failure to do so will

result in the State's assuming responsibility for the child. Given this opportunity for knowledge, it is reasonable to permit self-information as the unknown putative father's sole means of notice.

The U.S. Supreme Court has distinguished Stanley in Quilloin v. Wallcott, 434 U.S. 246 (1978). In that case, the Court made it clear that a state has the right in custody cases involving illegitimate children to distinguish between parents of legitimate and parents of illegitimate children. The court noted that in the Stanley case the issue involved was between a State and the illegitimate father of a child to whom he had acted as a father for quite a number of years, who had the greater interest over the child absent any type of hearing on the question of fitness. In Quilloin, however, the Court was faced only with the question of approving an adoption which would "give full recognition to a family unit already in existence, a result desired by all concerned, except appellant". The Court stated "we think appellant's (the natural father's) interests are readily distinguishable from those of a separated or divorced father, and accordingly believe that the state could permissibly give appellant less veto authority than it provides to a married father", 434 U.S. at 256. In the Quilloin case the law which was being challenged provided that if the child was illegitimate the mother was the only recognized parent and was given exclusive authority to exercise all parental prerogatives. The court upheld that law which is substantially less protective of the rights of the father of an illegitimate child than is Utah Code

Annotated 78-30-4(3). There was, therefore, in Quilloin no denial of equal protection, the putative father having had no actual or legal custody and, therefore, having never shouldered any significant responsibility with respect to the daily supervision, education, protection or care of the child, 434 U.S. at 256.

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